FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/4/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/3/2023 3:59 PM

Supreme Court No. 101594-1 Court of Appeals No. 84119-0-1

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### SHERWOOD AUBURN, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

## JOEL PINZON AND ROSA MENDEZ,

Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Drew Mazzeo
Harbor Appeals and Law, PLLC
2401 Bristol Court SW, Suite C-102
Olympia, WA 98502
(360) 539-7156
office@harborappeals.com

Attorney for Petitioner

#

#### 1. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioner SHERWOOD AUBURN, LLC, ("Plaintiff") asks this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section 2.

#### 2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

King County Superior Court found that Plaintiff's properly served pre-eviction notice on Defendants and ordered a writ of restitution and judgment against Defendants.

Division One of the Court of Appeals, on December 5, 2022, ruled in a published decision that this was error, reversing the trial court.

#### 3. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 3.1. Whether a first ever court of appeals decision in the entire nation that impacts every failure to pay eviction case in this State with a connection to a federal loan, subsidy, or program presents issues of substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4)? Yes.
- 3.2. Whether, under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and/or (4), this Court should take review of Division One's decision, *reversing the trial court* and holding, that the CARES Act created a brand new, permanent, 30 day *pay or* vacate notice applicable to all 50 states—when no such argument was ever presented to the trial

court to consider; in other words, where no authority exists for a court of appeals to reverse a trial court for not making a sua sponte ruling, and *Division One ruled it was reversible error to not make a sua sponte ruling*, should this Court take review? Yes.

- 3.3. Whether under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and/or (4), this Court should take review of Division One's decision, contrary to decisions of this Court and courts of appeal, that did not provide a proper statutory analysis by failing to consider the express written intent and purpose of Congress, by failing to consider applicable provisions of the CARES Act and federal pre-eviction notice statutes as a whole, and by adding words not written in applicable provisions of the CARES Act into the CARES Act? Yes.
- 3.4. Whether under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and/or (4), this Court should take review of Division One's decision, contrary to the plain language of many pre-eviction notice statutes and the first such holding by any court of appeal, that all pre-eviction notices must contain and provide tenants a cure or comply period for which the tenant has an opportunity to correct their conduct? Yes.
- 3.5. Whether under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and/or (4), this Court should take review of Division One's decision, contrary to decisions of this Court and courts of appeal that state no such thing and allow plaintiffs to plead cases in the alternative, that a landlord serving multiple pre-eviction notices is "misleading", "confusing", and/or "deceitful" to tenants? Yes.

//

//

#### 4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 4.1. Defendants rented from Plaintiff in 2019 and owe over \$40,000.00 in rent and utilities. (CP at 2-6, 20-32; RP at 14-17). Payment plan offers and dispute resolution attempts have all been refused. (CP at 20, 56-59; RP at 20, 32-33).
- 4.2. A mandatory state law 14 day pay or vacate notice and another notice regarding the CARES Act, stating Defendants could not be required to vacate for 30 days, were served. (CP 7-11, 18-26, 56-59; RP at 17-19).
- 4.3. More than 30 days after service of notices, Plaintiff filed this action. (CP 7-11). At the show cause hearing, Defendants submitted briefing arguing: (1) the CARES Act temporary and emergency legislation was permanent, (2) a plaintiff may not commence an unlawful detainer action until a "30 day CARES Act notice" has been served and runs, and (3) serving a 14 day state notice and a "contradictory" 30 day CARES Act notice was "confusing", failing to comply with federal law. (CP 60-78; RP at 10, 29-30).

- 4.4. Defendants did not argue that the CARES Act created 30 Day *pay or* vacate notice, as no language in the CARES Act suggests any cure period.
- 4.5. Plaintiff argued that the CARES Act stated purpose and intention was "temporary" and "emergency" relief from COVID. (RP at 10). Further, when reading it as a whole and in conjunction § 9058(b), the plain language of § 9058(c) required 30 days to pass before removal of the tenant could take place. (RP at 10-12). Nothing in § 9058(c) prohibited an unlawful detainer action from being filed within the 30 day period, unlike § 9058(b). (RP at 10-12) (stating "Unlike during the 120-day moratorium where [landlords] could not initiate an action [under § 9058](b)], the language used in subsection [§ 9058](c) simply said 'vacate,' not 'initiate,' [as in § 9058](b)] and, therefore, our notice is in compliance with federal law and state law.").
- 4.6. At the show cause hearing, Defendants again never argued to the trial court that the CARES Act created a 30 Day *Pay or* Vacate Notice. They said the way to "reconcile" state and

federal law under the CARES Act was for Plaintiff to have issued a "14 day to comply or 30 days to vacate" notice. (RP at 9).

- 4.7. The commissioner ruled that "plaintiff has satisfied both the CARES Act and the State Act." (RP at 12, 34). It reasoned that "This 30-day CARES Act notice was provided . . . almost four months ago" (RP at 12, 34) and that "[t]o date, there is still no court-ordered requirement that the defendant vacate." (RP at 12-13, 34, 39-41).
- 4.8. Defendants moved to revise, and the trial court judge denied Defendants' motion to revise. (CP at 45-46, 82-94).
- 4.9. On appeal, Defendants argued for the first time that the CARES Act created a 30 Day Notice to "*pay or* vacate" that must be served and run prior to filing any action. (Brief of Appellant at 25) (emphasis added).

# 4.10. Plaintiffs argued on appeal:

- The express intent and purpose of the CARES Act was "temporary" and "emergency assistance" for tenants.
- In two short sentences—which resemble no other federal notice statute ever drafted before—Congress

did not intend to create a brand-new, permanent, federal notice to vacate that applied to all 50 states. That would be an absurd result.

- The fact that the CARES Act lacked any language governing the form, substance, or even service requirements of a notice further demonstrated Congress did not intend to create a brand-new, permanent, federal notice. The vague word "provided" was selected to keep the provision in harmony with varying state law service requirements of notices.
- The CARES Act's nowhere includes any "cure" or "comply" period regarding any notice.
- Different words chosen in § 9058(c) as compared to § 9058(b) clearly demonstrated that the latter prohibited eviction filings for 120 days. After that moratorium period elapsed, the former imposed a 30 day delay, from date of service of "a notice to vacate", on court eviction orders requested by a lessor that "required the tenant to vacate the covered dwelling unit."
- There was <u>no conflict</u> between state law and the CARES Act. The latter was written to be in harmony with, and utilize, state law. The provision prevented the lessor from obtaining evictions orders or delivering a writ of restitution to the sheriff for execution for 30 days; it did not create a new federal notice.
- A state law 14 day pay or vacate notice did not require a tenant to vacate as the notice itself was statutorily defined, by RCW 59.18.057(1), as an "alleg[ation]" that the tenant did not pay rent. An allegation is not a requirement to vacate from a lessor.

 Self-help evictions are unlawful, and lessors could not require tenants to vacate without a lawful court order requested and obtained after meaningful opportunity to be heard at a show cause hearing; the only time lessors could require a tenant to vacate was by providing, or having provided, a properly obtained writ of restitution to the sheriff to execute.

# 4.11. Division One issued its published Decision, holding:

- The Temporary and emergency legislation known as the CARES Act created a brand new permanent, federal, 30 day notice to *pay or* vacate that applies to all 50 states.
- Despite the CARES Act having no language mentioning any "pay", "cure", or "comply" period, the "plain language" of the applicable provision's two short sentences created a brand-new, permanent, federal notice to *pay or* vacate governing all 50 states. Any other interpretation would render this provision in the CARES Act "meaningless."
- It was "confusing" to the degree of being "mislead[ing]" and "contradictory" and/or "decei[tful]" to provide tenants a state law mandated 14 pay or vacate notice while at the same time informing them that under federal law they could not be required to vacate for 30 days.
- The "require[ment]" of all notices in Washington state is to provide a "cure period", and tenants cannot "be in the status" of "unlawful[ly] detain[ing]" a premises

until the "expiration" of a "requisite period to cure."

- Plaintiff argued there was a conflict between state law and the CARES Act.<sup>1</sup>
- Plaintiff "clarified its interpretation of the CARES Act notice provision at oral argument" and according to Plaintiff the "proper interpretation of the provision would replace the word 'lessor' with the words 'superior court'."<sup>2</sup>

//

//

//

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Plaintiff argued the opposite that there was no conflict. (Brief of Respondent at 29-35). Defendants argued there was a conflict. (Brief of Appellant at 31).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiff did not "clarify[y]" any such position at oral argument and has never taken such position in briefing or otherwise. During an uninterrupted several minutes long string of questions/statements posed at oral argument by Judge Dwyer, the judge surmised that this must be Plaintiff's position based on his reading of Plaintiff's Brief of Respondent. Plaintiff's Brief of Respondent made no such argument and Plaintiff disagreed with Judge Dwyer at oral argument on essentially all points of law. A failure to pay notice is nothing more than an "alleg[ation]", as defined by statute RCW 59.18.057(1), that the tenant has not paid rent. The only time a lessor can be said to have "required" a tenant to vacate is when the lessor delivers, or has delivered, evictions orders and writ a restitution to the sheriff to execute.

#### 5. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

5.1. This Case Presents Issues of Substantial Public Importance Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) as it Impacts Every Failure to Pay Eviction Case in this State with a Connection to a Federal Subsidy, Loan, or Program.

The CARES Act applies to "covered properties." 15 U.S.C. § 9058(a)(2). Covered properties are those with a federally backed mortgage, where the owner participates in a federal housing program, or the tenant provides a rural housing voucher. *Id.* In Washington alone, the number of "covered properties" is staggering, especially since Washington law does not allow landlords to refuse government funds as a source of income from tenants.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Division One's decision opens, "When a landlord has accepted the financial benefits of certain federal programs, Congress is authorized . . . to impose on that landlord rules, regulations, or restrictions premised on the landlord's participation. . . ." Many times landlords have no choice in "participation" by accepting federal money from tenants because not doing so would be income-based discrimination. *Essentially being forced to take federal money and therefore forced to abide by federal regulations is surely much different than voluntarily accepting federal money and accompanying regulations*. Landlords, in many cases, would not do so if not forced by law.

Here, Defendants owe Plaintiff tens of thousands of dollars. All reasonable payment plans and requests to work with Plaintiff refused. *Plaintiff has paid its mortgage, not been paid rent, and paid Defendants' utilities for years*. The notion that Defendants would have paid rent between the 14<sup>th</sup> and 30<sup>th</sup> day—after notice was served—is absurd.

Regardless, Plaintiff did not file for eviction until well past 30 days after service of vacate notices. Plaintiff did not prevail on appeal, as it did before the trial court, solely because Division One added words to the CARES Act not there, *i.e.*, "pay or vacate", and held serving a mandatory 14-day notice and a notice informing Defendants of the CARES Act was "misleading." Additionally, the decision has caused landlords to erroneously believe they must now add "comply" and "cure" periods to preeviction notices that statutorily do not require them.

Landlords unable to obtain rent for months and years and paying utilities for tenants is anything but just, equitable, or uncommon in Washington State coming out of COVID; it is extremely common. Division's 1 ruling, the first of its kind from an appellate court, is causing landlords to begin the process of serving notices and filing cases all over again. The hardship on landlords is extreme, especially considering Division One added permanent words to, and requirements of the CARES act, not written there nor intended by Congress in "temporary" and "emergency" legislation. The erroneous decision duplicates/wastes ERPP dispute resolution efforts and is judicially inefficient.

The practical outcome of Division One's decision is that many thousands of delinquent tenants have obtained many more months of living on landlords' properties at great cost. Landlords are going out of business. Far less housing is available for everyone. Sixty percent of undersigned counsels' calls from mom-and-pop/smaller landlords (the majority of landlords) are how to leave the business entirely. When vast numbers of tenants do not pay rent for prolonged periods, rent for everyone rises. These are issues of substantial public importance directly

impacted by this case that should be decided by this Court.

This Court is called upon under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to grant Plaintiff's Petition. Not doing so would be an inequitable injustice that causes substantial issues of public importance—such as lessening housing availability and increasing rental rates—to greatly worsen.

5.2. Division One's Holding that the CARES Act Created a 30 Day Pay or Vacate Notice Was Never Argued Before the Trial Court. The Decision is Contrary to Court Decisions Prohibiting the Reversal of Trial Courts on Alternative Grounds Not Argued or Considered Below.

No authority in Washington State exists for reversing a trial court on alternative grounds not argued to the trial court nor considered by it. *E.g.*, *State v. Sondergaard*, 86 Wn. App. 656, 657–58, 938 P.2d 351, 352 (1997), *review denied*, 133 Wash.2d 1030, 950 P.2d 477 (1998) (holding argument on appeal not justified where party did not present such argument to trial court for consideration); *see also State v. Hudson*, 79 Wash.App. 193, 194 n. 1, 900 P.2d 1130 (1995) (holding court of

appeals can affirm decision of trial court on an alternate theory which was argued to trial court) (citing *Tropiano v. City of Tacoma*, 105 Wash.2d 873, 876, 718 P.2d 801 (1986), *aff'd*, 130 Wash.2d 48, 921 P.2d 538 (1996).

Here, the CARES Act mentions no "comply" or "cure" period at all. Defendants did not argue to the trial court that the CARES Act created a 30 Day *Pay or* Vacate Notice. (RP at 9). They argued to the trial court that Plaintiff was required to serve a "14 day to comply or 30 days to vacate" notice. (RP at 9). This, of course, is essentially what Plaintiff's notices given to Defendants did.

Division One held, however, that the trial court committed reversable error by not (sua sponte) recognizing that the CARES Act created a brand new, permanent, 30 Day *pay or* vacate notice, invalidating state law notices. This is contrary to decisions of this Court and courts of appeal that hold a trial court cannot be reversed on alternative (non-constitutional) grounds not raised, nor argued, before it.

This Court is called upon under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and/or (4) to grant Plaintiff's Petition. Well-established law requires parties to present and make their arguments to a trial court for consideration. Courts of appeal are subsequently prohibited from reversing trial courts on grounds not raised before the trial court.

5.3. Division One's Holding Adds Words to the Applicable CARES Act Provision and is Plainly Contrary to Plain Language of Statute as Written. The Decision Fails to Engage in Proper Statutory Analysis or to Read the Statute as a Whole. It Fails to Follow Congress's Expressly Written Intent and Purpose of Only Providing Emergency and Temporary Relief from COVID. The Decision Creates a Brand New, Permanent, 30 Day Pay or Vacate Notice, Applicable to All 50 States, Out of Thin Air.

Courts of appeal review de novo the meaning of a statute with the principal objective of effectuating the legislature's intent. *Christensen v. Ellsworth*, 162 Wn.2d 365, 372-73, 173 P.3d 228 (2007); *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002); *In re Estate of Garwood*, 109 Wn. App. 811, 814, 38 P.3d 362, 364 (2002). "In assessing

legislative intent", courts of appeal "first to the language of the statute." *Garwood*, 109 Wn. App. at 814.

"Plain meaning is discerned from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which that provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." Christensen, 162 Wn.2d at 372-73 (emphasis added). "The language at issue must be evaluated in the context of the entire statute." Garwood, 109 Wn. App. at 814 (emphasis added).

Statutory language is ambiguous when it is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation. *Id*. Courts avoid "unlikely, strained, or absurd consequences which can result from a literal reading." *Id*. at 814–15.

The intent and purpose of the CARES Act was "temporary" "emergency assistance." (Appendix 1, H.R. 748 (stating, "*Purpose: Providing emergency assistance* and health care response for individuals, families and businesses affected by the 2020 coronavirus pandemic.") (emphasis added)). Under 15

U.S.C. § 9057(d), Congress provided *temporary* relief from evictions in the context of foreclosures. Likewise, § 9058 is titled "*Temporary* moratorium on eviction filings" as the relief provided was not intended as permanent. (emphasis added).

Here, Division One's paramount job was to follow the intent and purpose of Congress, which was clearly stated as "temporary" and "emergency" in nature. Further, *Division One was to evaluate the language of § 9058, plain or not, in the context of the entire CARES Act, its appliable provisions, and as compared to federal eviction statutory schemes as a whole.* Different words chosen by Congress in different provisions indicated different purposes for those provisions.

These were exactly what Plaintiff's arguments to the trial court were and what the trial based its ruling on:

Now when we interpret statutes, we avoid absurdities. Having a temporary moratorium on eviction filings last permanently for all 50 states does lead to a very clear absurdity.

Defendant's primary argument is that we cannot commence or initiate an unlawful detainer action

until after . . . 30 days have passed.

We can find clarity in looking at the actual statute on Sections (b) and (c). There is a very distinct difference between the term "initiate an action" and "vacate the property."

So under Section (b), it states during the 120-day period, the landlord may not make cause or make any filing of any court of jurisdiction to initiate an action. But after that 120-day period has passed, and I think it's clear that 120 days has passed, Section (c) does not have that requirement to not initiate an action. It just uses the term "vacate." It uses a very different word, which has a very different meaning. It says "vacate." It does not say "initiate an action."

And considering that there are 50 different states with 50 different laws, the term "vacate" has to be read in its original meaning here, and that means it cannot be required to be removed from the property, whether that's by the sheriff, within 30 days.

(RP at 10-11).

In response on appeal, Plaintiff made the same arguments: "The intent and purpose of the CARES Act was 'temporary' and 'emergency assistance' for tenants under 15 U.S.C. § 9058." (Brief of Respondent at 1, 15).

"After the 120 day moratorium period, 'the lessor of a

covered dwelling unit . . . may not require the tenant to vacate . . . before the date that is 30 days after the date on which the lessor provides the tenant with a notice to vacate." (Brief of Respondent at 16). "This language does not refer to any particular notice to vacate. . . . Nor does it create a new federal termination notice to pay or vacate. . . . Rather, this language refers to, in a general way, the numerous state law notices to terminate and vacate, based on failure to pay, that lessors already provide to tenants pursuant to existing state laws." (Brief of Respondent at 17).

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