FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/2/2023 4:11 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1015941

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHERWOOD AUBURN LLC,

Petitioner,

٧.

JOEL PINZON and ROSA MENDEZ,

Respondents,

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Edmund Witter, WSBA No. 52339 Yuan Ting, WSBA No. 52897 Dashiell DeGraff, WSBA No. 46722 Ashleen O'Brien, WSBA No. 58429 Christina Jaccard, WSBA No. 55592

KING COUNTY BAR ASSOCIATION HOUSING JUSTICE PROJECT 1200 5th Ave., Suite 700 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (253) 260-5129 Facsimile: (206) 624-3117

Attorneys for Appellants

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

III. Summary of Argument

The Court of Appeals properly interpreted the CARES Act. Consistent with basic principles of statutory construction, the Court of Appeals properly found that by restricting the behavior of lessors to require respondents to move, the CARES Act implemented a requirement that lessors of certain federally insured or subsidized properties must provide respondents at least 30 days' notice to vacate

before instituting a lawsuit. In Washington State, a longer period to vacate a tenancy for non-payment also creates a longer period to come into compliance, by operation of the Residential Petitioner-Tenant Act. RCW 59.18.410(2) provides that "[b]efore entry of judgment *or* until five days have expired after entry of the judgment," the tenant may pay the amount of money laid out in the statute and be "restored to his or her tenancy."

The Petitioner's argument that the Court of Appeals misinterpreted the CARES Act rests in both a misreading of the decision and federal and state law. Further, the Petitioner asks this Honorable Court to issue a ruling that would give permission for Petitioners to provide misleading information to respondents, which would undermine the protections passed in both the federal and state legislatures. No substantive or compelling argument is provided by the Petitioner for these extraordinary requests.

Therefore, this Honorable Court should deny review and let the ruling issued by the Court of Appeals stand.

IV. Argument

A. In Part 5.1 of the Petition, the Petitioner Improperly Urges This Court Accept Review Because They Ignored the Plain Language of the CARES ACT.

The Petitioner's first argument is that they did not prevail "solely because Division One added words to the CARES Act not there, i.e., 'pay or vacate', and held serving a mandatory 14-day notice and a notice informing Defendants of the CARES Act was 'misleading.'" Petition for Review at 10. This is a drastic misstatement of the ruling issued by the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals properly read that the CARES Act forbids *lessors* from requiring respondents to vacate in less than 30 days after the *lessor* provides a *notice to vacate*, rather than forbidding *courts* from requiring respondents to vacate in

less than 30 days after the Petitioners provides said notice.¹

The Petitioner also makes much of uncited or anecdotal statements that rental housing stock will decrease, rent prices will increase, and Petitioners will "erroneously believe they must now add 'comply' and 'cure' periods to pre-eviction notices that statutorily do not require them." *Id.* While concerning, if true, that such negative externalities and a poor legal understanding of the Court of Appeals decision would plague the Petitioner community, these concerns do not seem to be facts properly provided to the Court, nor legally relevant even if properly presented; while RAP 13.4 does allow the Court to take up issues of

_

¹ Despite the Petitioner's protestations, this is the position that was advanced in oral argument. As the panel correctly noted during oral argument, 15 U.S. Code § 9058(c) *does not* read: "The superior court may not require the tenant to vacate the covered dwelling unit before the date that is 30 days after the date on which the lessor provides the tenant with a notice to vacate."

"substantial public interest," it is limited to those matters that "should be determined by the Supreme Court." The Petitioner's complaint seems to be over a matter of policy that was properly decided by the US Congress in passing the CARES Act, and this Honorable Court should not appropriate to itself any legislative authority to overturn that policy.

Further, the Petitioner complains about how this ruling drastically affects a "staggering" number of Petitioners, but the practical effect of the ruling is that Petitioners who have accepted a federal benefit must give notices that provide at least 30 days to vacate, rather than 14 days, which is exactly what the US Congress required of them in passing the CARES Act. If a "staggering" number of Petitioners have been ignoring the plain language of the CARES Act and issuing improper notices, for an unknown reason, the need to issue new, compliant notices and any potential delays incurred thereby seems

solely the result of that failure to obey federal law. This Court has long held that Petitioners must reconcile federal and state requirements when seeking to evict a tenant that may be subject to federal regulation and this case provides no new issue to be addressed. See, e.g., Hous. Auth. of City of Everett v. Terry, 114 Wn. 2d 558, 568, 789 P.2d 745 (1990) That landlords must follow federal regulations coinciding with federal benefits or federally backed insurance is not an issue of public concern this Honorable Court need concern itself with, despite the urging of the Petitioner to the contrary.

B. In Part 5.2 of the Petition, the Petitioner Ignores

Washington State Law That Applies to

Compliance Periods.

The Petitioner's next argument rests with the issue that the Court of Appeals properly determined that a 30 day notice to vacate under the CARES Act would also increase the compliance period under Washington State Law.

As noted in the Respondent's opening brief to the Court of Appeals, state law extends the time to cure nonpayment to coincide with the maximum time to vacate. As the Court of Appeals noted, a Petitioner cannot commence an unlawful detainer suit until after expiration of the preeviction notice. Sherwood Auburn LLC v. Pinzon, 521 P.3d 212, 217 (Wash. Ct. App. 2022) ("only after the proper notice is provided and the cure period has expired can the tenant be said to be unlawfully detaining the premises."). As a result, if the period to vacate is extended by federal law, the Petitioner cannot commence a lawsuit for unlawful detainer until after the prescribed period under federal law expires.

Petitioner would be correct that a mere extension of the time to vacate by the CARES Act would not automatically extend the time to cure if there was no ability of the tenant to cure the breach after expiration of the notice, but state law does provide such a cure. Under RCW 59.18.410(2),² a tenant may cure a default in rent even after the pay or vacate notice expires. The result is that if a Petitioner cannot commence an unlawful detainer until after the vacate notice expires, the time to cure is automatically extended under RCW 59.18.410(2).³ This is exactly what was argued in front of the panel.

Moreover, extending the period to comply completely fits with the purpose of the CARES Act. Congress was working to help prevent a tidal wave of evictions caused by periods of non-payment because of the economic impacts

.

² "When the tenant is liable for unlawful detainer after a default in the payment of rent, execution upon the judgment shall not occur until the expiration of five court days after the entry of the judgment. Before entry of a judgment or until five court days have expired after entry of the judgment, the tenant . . . may pay into court or to the Petitioner the amount of the rent due, any court costs incurred at the time of payment, late fees if such fees are due under the lease and do not exceed seventy-five dollars in total, and attorneys' fees if awarded".

³ Notably, the Legislature did not refer to a "14-day notice" in RCW 59.18.410(2) but to a "pay or vacate" notice without any specification of the time period afforded to either paying or vacating.

of the pandemic and the lockdowns, while at the same time working to push out an unprecedented amount of rental assistance to help respondents come current again. Extending the period to comply with a notice to pay or vacate would almost be a necessity for achieving that policy goal.

The Petitioner argues that this question of an extended compliance period was not argued below, and so this Honorable Court should seek review for that reason. However, the trial court did consider the related question of how to read the CARES Act and Washington State's notice provisions in harmony. "'[I]f an issue raised for the first time on appeal is arguably related to issues raised in the trial court, a court may exercise its discretion to consider newly-articulated theories for the first time on appeal." Mavis v. King Cnty. Pub. Hosp. No. 2, 159 Wn. App. 639, 651, 248 P.3d 558 (2011) quoting Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 139 Wn. App. 334, 338, 160

P.3d 1089 (2007). The issue of the extended compliance theory was extensively briefed by Respondent, largely because the issue was related to how the two provisions should be articulated, and the trial court completely rejected the notion that any extension of time was required. The purpose of the general rule against not considering theories not presented to the trial court "is to give the trial court an opportunity to correct errors and avoid unnecessary retrials." Postema v. Postema Enters., Inc., 118 Wn. App. 185, 193, 72 P.3d 1122 (2003). Since the trial court rejected any argument that the CARES Act provides for protections, the purpose of the rule is not implicated, and no compelling reason is provided for mechanically enforcing it. In any case, the "may" language of RAP 2.5 ultimately grants the appellate court discretion on the matters it will review and especially where the issue is solely of statutory interpretation, the appellate court's need to interpret a law correctly outweighs any restraints

to be subject to evolving interpretations before the trial court. See Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 42, 123 P.3d 844 (2005). The Petitioner provides no analysis as to how the Court of Appeals abused its discretion.⁴

To the extent that the decision below could be also extended to notices to comply with lease terms (the only other form of notice that includes a compliance period under Washington State law), the Petitioner raises no particular concerns of public interest. RCW 59.18.180 already provides by statute that a tenant be provided 30 days to remedy certain hazardous conditions and provide that they may be remedied even after an unlawful detainer commences. Consistent with this is the option to seek relief from forfeiture under RCW 59.12.190 up to 30 days after judgment terminating the lease has been entered. Washington State courts have long abhorred the forfeiture

_

⁴ We note the Petitioner did not object in his briefing to the issue being raised before the Court of Appeals.

of leases except in situations where it is clear the tenant cannot or will not remedy the breach. See, e.g., Housing Authority of City of Pasco v. Pleasant, 126 Wn. App. 382, 109 P.3d 422 (2005) ("[F]orfeiture or termination of leases is not favored and never enforced in equity unless the right thereto is so clear as to permit no denial."), citing Shoemaker v. Shaug, 5 Wn. App. 700, 704, 490 P.2d 439 (1971). If a tenant comes into compliance prior to the end of the vacate period pursuant to a notice to comply with lease terms or vacate the premises, then this poses no confounding puzzle under Washington State law. The Petitioner simply has no cause to seek to terminate the lease.

The Court of Appeals properly considered the whole of the legislation when making its ruling and did not read any language into the statute. In contrast, the Petitioner's preferred outcome would have required ignoring words within and rewriting the CARES Act and state law in regard

to compliance periods, but provides no actual cause for this Honorable Court to take up review.

C. In Part 5.3 of the Petition, the Petitioner Largely
Reiterates a Flawed Attempt at Statutory
Interpretation.

The Petitioner rehashes a good portion of its briefing to insist that the CARES Act's provisions were "temporary," but fails to point to any sunset provision that would affect the expanded notice requirements placed on lessors of covered dwellings. The Petitioner, for example, places much on the fact that that 15 U.S. Code § 9058 is entitled "Temporary moratorium on eviction filings." However, it has long been a standard issue of statutory interpretation that "if the name given to a statute or the designations given to its subdivisions, can ever be resorted to in

-

⁵ The Respondent does not dispute that the moratorium on evictions described in 15 U.S. Code § 9058(b) was temporary and has expired.

determining the purpose and intent of the statute, it can only be done when there is an ambiguity in its text." City of Spokane v. State, 198 Wash. 682, 690–91, 89 P.2d 826 (1939).

The Petitioner also reiterates the mistaken argument that a notice demanding a tenant to pay or vacate should be seen as an "allegation" only. This appears to be based solely in the sentence of RCW 59.18.057, which reads that "You are receiving this notice because the Petitioner alleges you are not in compliance with the terms of the lease agreement by failing to pay rent and/or utilities and/or recurring or periodic charges that are past due." RCW 59.18.057(1). However, the Petitioner then apparently asks this Honorable Court to ignore the subsequent demand in the same statute: "You must pay the total amount due to your Petitioner within fourteen (14) days after service of this notice or you must vacate the premises." Id. This language is replicated in the notice provided by the Petitioner to the Respondent:



14-DAY NOTICE TO PAY RENT OR VACATE THE PREMISES

TO: Joel Pinzon, Rosa M Mendez,, AND TO: and all other occupants ADDRESS: 2901 Auburn Way South #E07

Auburn, WA 98092

You are receiving this notice because the landlord alleges you are not in compliance with the terms of the lease agreement by failing to pay rent and/or utilities and/or recurring or periodic charges that are past due.

(1) Monthly rent due for July 2020 - December 2021:

\$ 22567.61

AND/OR

(2) Utilities due for July 2020 - December 2021:

\$ 306.19

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE:

\$ 22873.8

Note - payment must be made pursuant to the terms of the rental agreement or by electronic means including but not limited to, cashier's check, money order, or other certified funds.

You must pay the total amount due to your landlord within fourteen (14) days after service of this notice or you must vacate the premises. Any payment you make to the landlord must first be applied to the total amount due as shown on this notice. Any failure to comply with this notice within fourteen (14) days after service of this notice may result in a judicial proceeding that leads to your eviction from the premises.

A plain language reading of these words would give rise to the reasonable interpretation that the Petitioner is requiring the tenant to either comply or *vacate the dwelling unit*. This is exactly what the plain language of the CARES Act forbids.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the plain language of the statute, found no ambiguity, and declined to utilize heading language to alter the plain language of the CARES Act. The Court of Appeals also did not ignore language within Washington State pay or vacate notices that clearly demands the respondents "vacate the premises" if they cannot pay rent. See RCW 59.18.057(1). The Petitioner advances no principle of statutory interpretation the Court of Appeals failed to consider or misapplied. This Honorable Court should deny review.

D. In Part 5.4 of the Petition, The Petitioner Incorrectly Reads the Decision as Creating Compliance Periods.

While as discussed *supra*, an extended notice period would extend a compliance period under state law, nothing

regarding the circumstances of the decision issued by the Court of Appeals creates a compliance period where none would exist otherwise. The Petitioner argues that the written decision "mandates that all pre-eviction notices" contain comply and cure periods." Petition for Review at 22. The Respondent does not see how a decision about a notice that allows for a tenant to come into compliance can be reasonably interpreted in the manner proposed by the Petitioner, and the argument was not advanced by either party. The claimed error seems to imply this Honorable Court should accept review whenever some language in a published decision could be twisted to advance a novel theory in some hypothetical future controversy not before the Court. No citation is provided for this principle and the Court should deny review.

E. In Part 5.5 of the Petition, The Petitioner Urges the

Court to Allow Petitioners to Mislead

Respondents

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